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The Legal State of Affirmative Action in University Admissions

When Barbara Grutter filed her complaint in Grutter v. Bollinger, the federal courts were split over whether universities could use race as a factor in its application review process. 
  Years before, the courts clearly had indicated that universities could not bar students from higher education or segregate them because of their race. 
 However, it was not clear if universities could or should consider applicants’ race to increase the number of minority students enrolled in their institutions.
  During the civil rights movement of the 1960’s and 1970’s, colleges and universities began adopting affirmative action policies. 
  These programs successfully increased the number of minority students enrolled in higher education because they required admissions committees to consider the race of applicants in recruiting efforts, financial aid, hiring faculty, and developing student organizations.
  Some government officials and members of the public reacted to these efforts with great resistance, questioning both the motives of the universities and the legality of the programs.
The Supreme Court first attempted to address the question of affirmative action at universities in Regents of the University of California v. Bakke.
  Bakke, a white male, applied for admission to the Medical School of the University of California at Davis in 1973 and 1974. 
  In both years, Bakke was rejected; and in both years, minority applicants who had lower admissions scores than Bakke were admitted under the school’s affirmative action program. 
  Bakke sued the university to challenge its affirmative action policies as unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment.
  The school’s admission procedures required that a certain number of seats of the incoming class to be set aside for minority applicants. 
  While these applicants went through a similar application process as non-minority applicants, they did not have to meet the same admissions criteria; nor were their credentials compared to non-minority applicants. 
  On appeal, the Supreme Court had a badly split decision with six separate opinions and no majority opinion.
  Writing the decision of the court, Justice Powell held that diversity is a compelling interest to the extent that a person’s race and experiences add to the marketplace of ideas and perspectives within a university.
  Justice Powell ruled that the university’s affirmative action program was not constitutional because it was not narrowly tailored to meet that goal. 
  Instead of having quotas, Justice Powell wrote that universities could consider race as a plus factor along with other factors that could contribute to the diversity of ideas within the school.

After the Supreme Court’s decision in Bakke, universities began to use Justice Powell’s opinion to help them develop permissible affirmative action programs for their admissions policies. 
  However, lower federal courts were badly split about what, if any, precedent was set by Bakke.  Some courts were not convinced that Justice Powell’s opinion was binding precedent.
  Instead, these courts adopted the reasoning in later Supreme Court decisions that struck down affirmative action in employment and government contracting as unconstitutional.
  This reasoning led the Fifth Circuit court to hold that diversity was not a compelling interest that could justify affirmative action in university admissions.
  On the other hand, some courts, including the Ninth Circuit court, adopted Justice Powell’s reasoning and held that diversity could be a compelling interest that could justify affirmative action in university admissions.
  It was in this landscape of uncertainty about the constitutionality of affirmative action that the University of Michigan Law School began to develop its own policies to support diversity on its campus.

Affirmative Action at the University of Michigan Law School

The University of Michigan Law School is one of the Nation’s most highly respected schools.  Lee Bollinger was appointed the Dean of the Law School in 1987.
  Shortly after his appointment, Bollinger discovered that the school’s admission policies needed to be updated to meet the current legal standards and best practices. 
  In the fall of 1991, he appointed a committee to draft the new admissions policy. 
 

This committee created a policy that echoed Justice Powell’s opinion in Bakke. 
  The policy stated that the law school had two goals for its admissions program: ‘to admit a group of students who individually and collectively are among the most capable students applying to American law schools in a given year’ and to ‘seek a mix of students with varying backgrounds and experience who will respect and learn from each other.’ 
 The policy emphasized the law school’s commitment to racial and ethnic diversity with special reference to the inclusion of students from groups that historically had been discriminated against, specifically African-Americans, Hispanics, and Native Americans. 
  

To meet its dual goals, the committee developed a plan under which an admissions committee would evaluate each applicant individually, considering a variety of factors.  First, to determine whether an applicant was expected to succeed academically, the admissions committee would look to the applicant’s undergraduate grade-point average and Law School Admissions Test (“LSAT”) scores.
  The higher the composite of these score, the more likely the student would be accepted; however, the school did not have cut-offs by which applicants would be denied or accepted automatically.
 

Second, the committee looked to a variety of other factors including “the enthusiasm of the recommenders, the quality of the undergraduate institution, the quality of the applicant's essay, residency, leadership and work experience, unique talents or interests, and the areas and difficulty of undergraduate course selection.”  It would also consider whether the student would contribute to the school’s diversity. 
  Based on these factors, the school would sometimes admit students with relatively low GPAs and LSAT scores; however, the policy stressed that students would only be accepted if the committee expected they could graduate without serious academic problems.

The school did not aim to enroll a particular percentage or number of minority students.  Rather, the school tried to enroll a ‘critical mass’ of African American, Native American, and Hispanic students to ‘ensure their ability to make unique contributions to the character of the Law School.’ 
 Because of the school’s use of race as a factor in the admissions process, the relative odds of acceptance for minority applicants was many times greater than for white applicants.
  Had the school not considered race in its admissions process, the school would have significantly reduced the number of minority applicants admitted.
 
The Plaintiffs

The investigation into University of Michigan’s Law School’s admission policies began after Carl Cohen, a professor from the University’s Philosophy Department, discovered what he thought were alarming statistics in the University’s admission criteria. 
  He used the Freedom of Information Act to acquire comprehensive data about the school’s admissions procedures and admissions statistics.
  This data indicated that, when comparing minority and non-minority applicants with the same grades and entrance exam scores, minority students were offered admission at a significantly higher rate than the non-minority students.
  Cohen, a self-proclaimed liberal who said that he committed most of his life to fighting discrimination based on race, was appalled when he found evidence that he believed indicated the school was blatantly engaged in race discrimination. 
  Cohen continued his research and expanded it to both the undergraduate program and the law school.  Then, he summarized his findings in a 10-page report entitled “Racial Discrimination in the Admissions at the University of Michigan.” 
 Cohen distributed his report widely.  He gave it to a state legislative subcommittee on a pending bill to abolish affirmative action.
  He published articles and distributed information to the media.
  He passed it out at school forums, but only received negative responses.
 


Professor Cohen’s dedication paid off when it caught the attention of the Center for Individual Rights (“CIR”).  CIR was founded in April 1989 by Michael McDonald and Michael Greve.
  Previous to founding CIR, McDonald and Greve worked together at the Washington Legal Foundation (“WLF”), an organization that promoted politically conservative values. 
  WLF met its goals primarily through writing amicus briefs.
  Both McDonald and Greve were frustrated with the effectiveness of WLF’s strategy and with the amount of fundraising that was required to support its work. 
  At the time, there were not many conservative public interest firms that pursed litigation.
 

McDonald and Greve founded CIR to fill this void. 
  They modeled CIR after existing successful liberal public interest firms; the firm would be smaller, specialized, and able to utilize the resources and skills of conservative pro bono attorneys at for-profit firms. 
  CIR offered these lawyers who shared CIR’s ideals the opportunity to use their skills to create meaningful change.
  At the same time, CIR offered its clients representation by high-quality lawyers. 

CIR first addressed affirmative action in Hopwood v. Texas.
  CIR represented four white plaintiffs who had been denied admission to the University of Texas School of Law.
  CIR challenged the institution’s admissions policy on equal protection grounds.
  On appeal, the Fifth Circuit court held that "the University of Texas School of Law may not use race as a factor in deciding which applicants to admit in order to achieve a diverse student body, to combat the perceived effects of a hostile environment at the law school, to alleviate the law school's poor reputation in the minority community, or to eliminate any present effects of past discrimination by actors other than the law school." 
 CIR was successful in convincing the court that Bakke no longer stood for the principle that diversity was a compelling interest.

With this success on its resume, McDonald and Greve were hungry to tackle affirmative action in other states.
  They were immediately interested when they learned of the possible dispute at the University of Michigan.
  Because the university had already undergone intense scrutiny, CIR thought the university would be an excellent location for a public battle over the legality of affirmative action. 
 

When CIR decided to take on the University of Michigan’s affirmative action program, McDonald reached out to an old friend and former classmate from George Washington University Law School, Kirk Kolbo. 
 Kolbo already had worked on one case for CIR. 
  He was interested in taking on affirmative action and agreed to take on this challenge. 
  Kolbo was a partner with Maslon Edelman Borman & Brand, LLP in Minnesota.
  When he joined the case, he brought with him the resources of his firm including several well-respected and highly-accomplished attorneys: David F. Herr, R. Lawrence Purdy, Michael C. McCarthy, and Kai H. Richter.
  This impressive legal team was joined by Michael E. Rosman, CIR’s general counsel.

Before filing its complaint, CIR needed to find a named plaintiff for its class action suits against the undergraduate program and the law school.  CIR solicited possible plaintiffs from white applicants who had been denied admission to the schools.
  Barbara Grutter was one of the applicants who responded to their solicitation.
  

When Grutter applied to the University of Michigan Law School, she was endeavoring on her second career.  Grutter was a 38-year old mother of two who had run a health-care consulting business from her home in the Detroit area.
  She had a 3.8 undergraduate grade point average from Michigan State; and her 161 LSAT score placed her in the 86th percentile of all test-takers.
  The Law School initially placed Grutter on the waiting list; but it ultimately denied her application. 
  Grutter believed that because of her life experience, she had the potential to add something unique to diversity of the law school, but that, because of affirmative action, she was denied admission. 
  CIR chose Grutter to be the lead plaintiff in their case against the law school because her age, experience, and academic credentials set her apart from other applicants that CIR had interviewed.
 

United States District Court, Eastern District of Michigan 

 On December 3, 1997, CIR filed suit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan against the University of Michigan Law School, the Regents of the University of Michigan, Lee Bollinger (Dean of the Law School from 1987 to 1994, and President of the University of Michigan from 1996 to 2002), Jeffrey Lehman (Dean of the Law School), and Dennis Shields (Director of Admissions at the Law School from 1991 until 1998).
  CIR claimed that the Law School discriminated against Grutter based on her race, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.
  It claimed that the Law School had no “compelling interest to justify their use of race in the admissions process.”

In March 1998, 41 individuals and three pro-affirmative action student groups sought to intervene in the case as defendants.
  The individual intervenors included 21 undergraduate students of various races and from various undergraduate institutions, all of whom planned to apply to the law school for admission; five black students who were attending Cass Technical High School or Northwestern High School in Detroit who planned to apply to the law school for admission; twelve students of various races who were attending the law school; a paralegal and a Latino graduate student at the University of Texas at Austin who intended to apply to the law school for admission; and a black graduate student at the University of Michigan who is a member of the Defend Affirmative Action Party.
 The court initially denied the motion to intervene, but in August 1999, the court of appeals reversed and directed that the intervention be permitted.
  On December 22, 2000, the court heard oral arguments in this case.
  As a result of the oral arguments, the court focused on the following three issues: (1) the extent to which race is a factor in the law school’s admissions decisions; (2) whether the law school’s consideration of race in making admissions decisions constitutes a double standard in which minority and non-minority students are treated differently; and (3) whether the law school may take race into account to “level the playing field” between the minority and non-minority applicants.
  Over a period of 15 days in January and February 2001, the court conducted a bench trial and held in favor of the plaintiff.
  

Ms. Grutter alleged that in 1996 she applied for admission to the University of Michigan Law School (“Law School”).
  Plaintiff, who is Caucasian, was initially placed on a waiting list, but in June 1997, her application was rejected.
  The plaintiff asserted two claims: first, she claimed that the Law School discriminated against her on the basis of her race, thereby violating her rights to equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment.
  This first claim was brought under 42 U.S.C. § § 1981 and 1983.  Second, Plaintiff claimed that Defendants violated Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal funds from discriminating on the basis of race.
  The plaintiff sought many forms of relief, including a declaratory judgment that her rights were violated; an injunction prohibiting racial discrimination in admission; compensatory and punitive damages; an order requiring Defendant to admit her to the law school; and attorney fees and costs.

In response to the Plaintiff’s claims, the Defendant points to its written admissions policy.
  The policy was adopted by the law school faculty in April 1992 in response to the Supreme Court’s ruling in Regents of the University of California v. Bakke.
  The policy and the mission statement of the Law School assert that all applications are read in their entirety, and all of the information elicited by the application is factored into the admission decision.
  The Law School Admission Test (LSAT) scores, undergraduate course work, and performance are relied on heavily and given serious regard, additionally, an applicant’s promise of making a notable contribution to the class by way of a particular strength, attainment, or characteristic – e.g., an unusual intellectual achievement, employment experience, nonacademic performance, or personal background is also given serious consideration.
  In addition to the type of diversity that may come from an applicant’s interesting or unusual employment experiences, extracurricular activities, travel experiences, athletic accomplishment, volunteer work, or foreign language fluency, the admissions policy also describes the importance of an applicant’s race as a qualification which may make him a more attractive candidate for admission.

However, the Law School admits that it does have a commitment to one particular type of diversity.  “This is a commitment to racial and ethnic diversity with special reference to the inclusion of students from groups which have been historically discriminated against, like African-Americans, Hispanics, and Native Americans, who without this commitment might not be represented in the student body in meaningful numbers.”
  In order to fulfill this commitment, the Law School enrolls a “critical mass” of minority students.
  “The term ‘critical mass’ means ‘meaningful numbers’ or ‘meaningful representation’ which is understood to mean a number that is sufficient so that the minority students can contribute to classroom dialogue and not feel isolated.”
  According to the Law School, the term “critical mass” cannot be quantified in terms of numbers or percentages, or ranges of numbers or percentages, but indicated that a critical mass means “meaningful numbers”.
  And, the purpose of such of a commitment was not created or intended as a remedy for past discrimination, but as a means of including students who will bring into the law school a perspective different from that of members of groups which have not been victims of such discrimination.

The plaintiff further alleged that the Defendant’s consideration of race was not merely one of many factors in the admissions process, but was a “super factor” in the admissions process.
  As part of the evidence used by the plaintiff to show that race was a “super factor”, she pointed to the “relative odds of acceptance” for minority students and non-minority students.
  The expert witness for the plaintiff concluded that in 1995-200, “membership in certain ethnic groups is an extremely strong factor in the decision for acceptance.
  Native American, African American, Mexican American, and Puerto Rican applicants in the same LSAT x GPA grid cell as a Caucasian American applicant have odds of acceptance that is many, many (tens to hundreds) times that of a similarly situated Caucasian American applicant”.

As a result of the evidence presented by the Law School and the Plaintiff, the court found that the law school explicitly considered the race of applicants in order to enroll a critical mass of underrepresented minority students and in that process created a double standard between minority students and non-minority students. 
 

The only issue left unanswered was whether the law school’s use of race in the admissions process in order to achieve a diverse student body was constitutional.  In order to properly address this issue, the district court looked to Adarand Constructors, Inc. v. Pena.
  In Adarand, the Supreme Court held that “all racial classifications, imposed by whatever federal, state, or local governmental actor, must be analyzed by a reviewing court under strict scrutiny.  Such classifications are constitutional only if they are narrowly tailored measures that further compelling governmental interests”.
  As a result, the district court had to determine whether the achievement of racial diversity constitutes a compelling state interest and, if so, whether the law school’s admissions policy was narrowly tailored to serve that interest.
  

In answering this question, the starting point was the Supreme Court’s landmark decision in with Regents of the University of California v. Bakke, the only case in which the Supreme Court addressed the “diversity rationale” as a justification for considering race in reviewing an application for admission to a university.
 

As precedent, the Bakke case is a difficult case to interpret because it was a fragmented opinion; three separate opinions came out of the case.
  Those that joined in the opinion of Justice Stevens concluded that Title VI prohibited U.C. Davis, as a state educational institution receiving federal funding, from considering an applicant’s race in making admissions decisions.  Justices Brennan, White, Marshall, and Blackmun authored a joint opinion in which they concluded that “both Title VI and the Constitution permit a state educational institution to take race in account when it serves to remedy disadvantages cast on minorities by past racial prejudice.”
  In a separate, tie-breaking opinion, Justice Powell expressed the view that “a state education institution has a compelling interest in admitting a diverse student body, and that ethnic diversity is only one element in a range of factors that a university properly may consider in attaining a heterogeneous student body.”
  The district court has to decide which part of the Bakke opinion is binding in order to make a decision in this case. 

The plaintiff argues that that although Justice Powell’s opinion announced the Court’s judgment, his opinion contained statements and conclusions in which no other Justice or group of Justices joined and are therefore not part of the Court’s holding.
  The Defendants argue that the Brennan group concurred with Justice Powell’s conclusions regarding diversity by joining in Part V-C of his opinion, and that under Marks v. United States Justice Powell’s conclusions regarding diversity are part of the Court’s holding.
  The district court reasoned that the Brennan group did not concur with Justice Powell’s conclusions regarding the diversity rationale because they did not join in the part of the opinion that specifically addressed the diversity issue.
  As a result, Justice Powell’s conclusion regarding diversity was not binding on the district court’s decision in this case.
  

On the issue of whether achieving diversity in university admissions is a compelling government interest, the district court concluded that it was not.
  The district court concluded that the Supreme Court in Bakke did not recognize the achievement of racial diversity in university admission as a compelling state interest because it is not a remedy for past discrimination.

The district court further concludes that even if racial diversity were a compelling state interest, the Defendant’s use of race as an admission factor would be constitutional if narrowly tailored to serve that interest.
  The court found that the Defendant’s use of race was not narrowly tailored for five reasons.
  First, achieving a “critical mass” is not quantifiable – “narrow tailoring is difficult, if not impossible, to achieve when the contours of the interest being served are so ill-defined.”
  Second, there was no time limit on the defendant’s use of race in the admissions process – “such indefiniteness weighs heavily against a finding of narrow tailoring”.
  Third, the use of race to ensure the enrollment of a certain minimum percentage of underrepresented minority students is indistinguishable from a quota system – which was declared unconstitutional under Bakke.
  Fourth, the court reasoned that because the Law School did not provide a “principled explanation” as to why it has singled out these particular groups for special attention, therefore there was no logical basis for the law school to have chosen the particular racial groups which received special attention under the current admissions policy.
  The fifth and final reason the court found that the Defendant’s use of race was not narrowly tailored was because it did not investigate alternative means for increasing minority enrollment.

United States Court of Appeals

Following the district court defeat, the Defendants immediately appealed to the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals.  On December 6, 2001, the court heard oral arguments and subsequently filed their opinion on May 14, 2002.
  The court addressed only whether the Law School’s use of race in its admissions program was constitutional.
  The court held that the Law School’s use of race in its admissions program was constitutional because it (1) serves a compelling state interest and (2) it was narrowly tailored to achieve that interest, thereby reversing the decision of the district court.
  

Similar to the district court’s analysis the court of appeals turned to Bakke in order to determine whether the Law School’s interest in achieving a diverse student body is compelling.
  However, unlike the district court, the appellate court determined that Justice Powell’s opinion was binding on the courts under Marks v. United States because Justice Powell’s opinion would permit the most limited consideration of race; therefore, it is Bakke’s narrowest rationale.
  Accordingly, Justice Powell’s opinion constitutes Bakke’s holding and provides the governing standard in this case.
  Because Justice Powell’s Bakke opinion is binding on the courts, the appellate court found that the Law School has a compelling state interest in achieving a diverse student body.
  

Turning to the second issue - whether the law’s school use of race in their admissions policy was narrowly tailored to serve the compelling interest of achieving a diverse student body – the appellate court held that the Law School’s consideration of race and ethnicity was narrowly tailored.
  The district court relied on five factors in concluding that the Law School’s use of race was not narrowly tailored – the appellate court went through each on of those five factors and pointed out the flaws in each one.
  The appellate court turned to the first factor offered by the district court – the law school did not define “critical mass” with sufficient clarity – and pointed out that if the law school had defined “critical mass” in percentages or numbers then it would have been a quota system, which would have been completely at odds with Bakke’s prohibition of fixed quotas.
  The second factor offered by the district court – the lack of a time limit on the Law School’s consideration of race and ethnicity – is provided by the appellate court.
  The appellate court states that it will revisit the school’s admissions policy in 25 years.  The third factor that the district court considered in making its decision – the admissions policy was indistinguishable from a quota system – was addressed by the appellate court in the same manner as the first factor.
  If the Law School had defined “critical mass” in percentages or numbers it would have resembled a quota system, but since it didn’t, it was not a quota system.
  The fourth factor – there was no logical basis for the law school to have chosen their particular groups which receive special attention – was addressed by the appellate court by looking to Bakke.
  In Bakke, the one admissions policy that was approved by Justice Powell, the Harvard Plan, specifically identified specific minority groups among the underrepresented groups that Harvard sought to enroll through its admissions policy.
  Since the Law School’s admissions policy was based on the Harvard Plan and the opinion of Bakke, the appellate court found that the Law Schools references to specific minorities groups could not be faulted.
  The fifth factor – the Law School did not investigate alternative means for increasing minority enrollment – the appellate court found that the Law School did consider and ultimately rejected various race-neutral alternatives to the consideration of race and ethnicity.
  Due to all of these reasons, the appellate court found that the Law School’s admissions policy was narrowly tailored to serve its compelling interest of achieving a diverse student body.
  

The appellate court reversed the decision of the district court.  The Law School use of race in their admissions policy constituted a compelling state interest and was narrowly tailored to serve that interest – affirmative action could be used at the law school. 

Supreme Court Decision 

Opinion of the Court – Justice O’Connor

The Court first examines the history of the case and discusses the relevance of precedents such as Bakke.
  In its discussion on Bakke, the Court focused on Justice Powell’s approval that a university could use race to further student body diversity.
  Justice Powell had argued that a diverse student body could lead to a wide exposure of ideas and thought.
  Justice Powell saw race as one of many possible elements that could bring about diversity but believed it should not be used as the only element.
  The Court endorsed Justice Powell’s view that student body diversity could be considered a compelling state interest and justify the use of race in admissions.
 

            The Court then quickly dispelled the idea that the Law School could not use the argument of remedying past discrimination.
  It had been suggested that remedying past discrimination was only justified when dealing with race-based governmental actions.
  The Court, however, stated that it has never held in such a way expressly.
 

            The Court continued by emphasizing the Law School’s educational autonomy, which it found grounded in the First Amendment.
  The Court chose to defer to the Law School’s assessment and the assessments of their amici in concluding diversity was essential to the educational mission of the institution.
 

            The benefits of the policy, the Court stated, were substantial.
  The policy would break down stereotypes and create better understanding between people of different races.
  In light o the amici, the Court also stated that diversity prepared students for employment in a diverse workplace and enhanced learning outcomes.
  On the strength of amici curiae briefs from 3M and General Motors, the Court stated the benefits of the policy were not theoretical but real in an increasingly global marketplace.
 

            The Court also noted the special nature of universities and, in particular, law schools in producing the nation’s leaders.
  In order to produce legitimate leaders, the path to leadership must be open to people of all races and ethnic backgrounds.
  “Access to legal education … must be inclusive of talented and qualified individuals of every race and ethnicity.”
 

            Having found the Law School’s admission policy to be a compelling state interest, the Court turned to examine if the policy was narrowly tailored to limit any possible illegitimate racial prejudice or stereotypes.
  In order to be narrowly tailored, the Court stated that race could be considered a “plus” but there can be no quota system.
  The policy must also review each student as an individual and not make race the defining characteristic of a potential student’s application.
  Finally, the policy must be limited in scope of time.

            The Court found the Law’ Schools admissions policy of achieving a “critical mass” to be more similar to the acceptable policy at Harvard University, which added a “plus” for race, rather than a strict quota which reserved a certain number of seats.
  The Court found that evidence of a minority student population ranging from 13.5 percent to 20.1 percent to be inconsistent with that of a quota.
 

            The Court also found that the Law School engages in a holistic review of each applicant.  Applicants who were accepted into the law school were accepted not based solely on their race but based also upon their qualifications and experience.
  In addition, the Law School’s diversity policy takes into account foreign travel, speaking different languages, personal and family adversity, and community service.
  These diversity characteristics, the Court stated, trumps race in the applicant process at times.
 

            Finally, the Court took the Law School on its good faith word that it planned to implement a race-neutral admissions formula when it was practicable.
  

            As a result, the Court affirmed the opinion of the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals and found the Law School’s admission policy to be constitutional. 

Concurrence – Justice Ginsberg

            Justice Ginsberg concurred with the judgment and expanded on the uneven educational opportunities available to minority students.
  Justice Ginsberg stated that both minority students dominantly attended schools in which they were the majority and that schools located in minority communities were far behind other schools in terms of education and resources.
  Justice Ginsberg states that these inequalities remain a reality but, if they are remedied and educational opportunities for young minority students are improved, then admissions policies, such as the Law Schools, could finally be put to rest.

Dissenting in Part/Concurring in Part – Justice Scalia

            Justice Scalia joined with Justice Rehnquist in stating the “critical mass” as, in fact, a quota.
  Justice Scalia also joined with Justice Thomas that the compelling state interest is not that diversity is parallel with educational benefit but that minorities would be disproportionately excluded from a prestigious institution with high admission standards.

            Justice Scalia argued that a law school or formal education setting is not the only example in which an individual can be educated and receive the benefits of diversity.  As a result, if a compelling state interest was fulfilled at a law school, then it could be fulfilled nearly anywhere.
  Scalia also believed the vagueness in the Court’s opinion would do little to resolve the controversy and more litigation will ensure.
 

            Dissenting in Part/Concurring in Part – Justice Thomas
            Justice Thomas concurred with the Court’s opinion in two areas although did not concur with any of its dispositive conclusions.  Justice Thomas concurred with the Court that, outside of this classification, all other uses of race in admissions remains unlawful.
  Justice Thomas also concurred with the Court’s statement that racial practices in higher education would be illegal in twenty five years.
  (The Court had surmised that it would be practicable for a race-neutral policy to be implemented in twenty-five years.)  Justice Thomas dissented in stating that what will be illegal in 25 years is still illegal today and the Constitution would not change.  Justice Thomas did not see a correlation between diversity and educational benefit.
 
Dissent – Justice Rehnquist
Justice Rehnquist argued that the “critical mass” was nothing less than a quota.  He pointed towards the portions of students within each minority group and how they remain consistently admitted in the same ratio.
  Justice Rehnquist also found that the school was more likely to reject a Hispanic student than an African American student, even if their qualifications were the same.
  
Immediate Impact on the University of Michigan Law School
Following the decision, university officials at the University of Michigan Law School and other programs around the nation were able to institute their own programs to promote racial diversity.  Unlike decisions in school desegregation cases, this decision did not reflect a mandate from the Court to the universities.  Rather, it created an option for them if the universities desired to follow it. 

            The option for a diversity policy, however, was quickly limited.  Gutter tied the policy to an educational benefit.  Some scholars, such as Professor Richard Sanders, argued that there was actually a negative educational benefit as a result of the policy.  He argued that minority students could be mismatched in institutions and end up at the bottom of their class.  As a result, there would be less minority attorneys working in the field.
 

            In light of Professor Sanders’ research, the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights and the Office of Civil Rights expended resources and time to investigating schools for illicit admissions practices.  They expected schools to demonstrate a commitment to diversity as well as analyzing the educational benefits and drawbacks.
 

            Minority scholarships, activities, and programs were deemed unconstitutional by the government agencies.  The agencies also put pressure on the universities by introducing race-neutral alternatives.

            In some states, such as Michigan, he decision created enough backlash that the state passed a constitutional amendment banning the use of racial discrimination and racial preferences in admissions practices.  The state amendments coupled with the work of government agencies effectively obscured the fact that the Law School had actually prevailed in the case.
 

            Finally, Justice O’Connor’s stepping down from the court and her replacement by Justice Roberts and Justice Alito will likely lead to a further limiting of Grutter.  Neither Justice Roberts nor Alito share O’Conner’s reasoning that increased diversity could be a compelling state interest.
 
Alternatives to Cause Litigation – Proposition 2

After the courts made their rulings in Gratz v. Bollinger and Grutter v. Bollinger, the plaintiffs were determined not to give up their fight against affirmative action.  They knew that the decision in Grutter left them in a precarious position because Supreme Court stated that diversity was a compelling interest, leaving the door open for states to create affirmative action programs. Thus, the only viable way for them to eradicate affirmative action was through state-by-state initiatives.


CIR already had led successful ballot initiatives that changed state constitutions to outlaw affirmative action.  Ballot initiatives allow the public to initiate state law.
  Individuals can collect signatures to petition an initiative onto a state ballot. 
  Then, voters can decide whether the state should adopt the law. 
  In 1996, CIR represented the sponsors of California’s Proposition 209, a state constitutional amendment that banned discrimination based on race or sex.
  In 1998, it helped pass Initiative 200, which banned consideration of race or gender in Washington’s public contracting, education, and hiring.

To start this endeavor, CIR joined forces with the American Civil Rights Institute and Ward Connelly, a wealthy African American who had served as chairman for the committee that backed California’s Proposition 209.
  Together, they founded the Michigan Civil Rights Initiative (“MCRI”). 
  MCRI’s mission was to create and campaign for Proposal 2, a ballot initiative to amend Michigan’s Constitution to ban publicly funded organizations from considering race or sex in education, employment, or contracting.
  Jennifer Gratz, the plaintiff in Gratz v. Bollinger, the undergraduate case against University of Michigan, found a new role in the fight against affirmative action when she was appointed as the Executive Director of MCRI. 
 This team eventually would raise over $1.4 million, including $500,000 from Connelly himself, for MCRI.

 
Grutter also found a role for herself in the new fight against affirmative action.  She became treasurer for Toward a Fair Michigan, a nonprofit organization dedicated to fostering conversation about affirmative action in Michigan and the possible implications of Proposal 2.
  Along with William B. Allen, a professor at the University of Michigan, she would plan public forums throughout the state. 


Proposal 2 faced a great deal of adversity from people who thought the amendment would interfere with efforts to diversify the work force. 
  Groups opposing the proposal included One United Michigan, unions, churches, businesses, civil rights groups, and universities, including the University of Michigan. 
 This coalition of Proposal opponents was led by the ACLU and the Michigan Catholic Conference.  The coalition raised over $3.3 million to support its initiatives. 


From the start, these adversaries challenged the proposal both in the courts and in the public eye.  The first court challenge came just after MCRI submitted 508,202 petition signatures from registered Michigan.
  MCRI only had to collect 317,757 signatures to get the initiative on the November 2006 ballot.
  Opponents brought a complaint that signatures were not valid because petition signature collectors led signers to believe that they were signing a proposal in favor of affirmative action. 
 The district court found that MCRI had used deceptive practices when collecting petition signatures, but held that the opponents did not prove that the voter fraud had “deprived minorities of equal access to the political process.”
 


Ultimately, the Michigan Supreme Court ordered that Proposal 2 be included on the November 2006 ballot.
  The proposal that appeared on the ballot read:

THE PROPOSAL WOULD AMEND THE STATE CONSTITUTION BY ADDING A SECTION 25 TO ARTICLE I.

A proposal to amend the state constitution to ban affirmative action programs that give preferential treatment to groups or individuals based on their race, gender, color, ethnicity or national origin for public employment, education or contracting purposes.

The proposed constitutional amendment would:

· Ban public institutions from using affirmative action programs that give preferential treatment to groups or individuals based on their race, gender, color, ethnicity or national origin for public employment, education, or contracting purposes. Public institutions affected by the proposal include state government, local governments, public colleges and universities, community colleges and school districts. 

· Prohibit public institutions from discriminating against groups or individuals due to their gender, ethnicity, race, color or national origin. (A separate provision of the state constitution already prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin).

After the election, MCRI was excited to learn that Proposal 2 had passed; 58% of voters checked “yes” on Proposal 2.
  Despite the fact that Proposal opponents had outspent MCRI by a significant amount, the opponents were unable to convince 2.1 million of the 3.6 million voters to vote against the proposal. 


Undaunted, the opponents took their fight back to the courts. The first suit challenging Michigan’s pending anti-affirmative action amendment was filed by a coalition pro-affirmative action group called “By Any Means Necessary” (“BAMN”). 
  BAMN claimed that Proposal 2 violated the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause and Titles VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968. 
  The second challenge was brought by the American Civil Liberties Union.  In its class action suit, it asked the court to order an injunction on Proposal 2 until the state determined how the proposal would be construed.
  It also asked for an exception allowing the University to use race as a factor in its admissions practice, in compliance with Grutter.
 

District Court Judge David Lawson decided to consolidate the cases brought by BAMN and ACLU because they sought similar relief from the court.
  On December 19, 2006, Judge Lawson granted their request for injunctive relief; but his decision was overturned by the Sixth Circuit.
  This decision was affirmed by the Supreme Court on January 19, 2007.
  A final ruling in the cases did not come until March 18, 2008.
  Judge Lawson held that extraordinary circumstances could warrant a court overturn of a ballot initiative voted for by Michigan’s electorate.
  However, the judge found that Proposal 2 passed for a variety of nondiscriminatory reasons.
  The Judge also held that while the amendment made it more difficult for minorities to obtain preferential treatment; it did not make it more difficult for individuals to achieve equal protection.
  Thus, the judge upheld the inclusion of the Proposal 2 Amendment into the Michigan Constitution.

After Michigan enacted Proposal 2, the University of Michigan was forced to revisit its application processes. Though the school was initially resistant to the change, on November 21, 2006, Mary Sue Coleman, the University of Michigan President, announced that the school was launching a task force called “Diversity Blueprints.”
  This committee’s mission would be to develop “fresh, innovative approaches to sustain and enhance diversity” that are compliant with Proposal 2. 
  After the 2006-2007 admission cycle, the first time the university disregarded race and gender information in its application review process, the number of minorities accepted by the University dropped significantly.
   The University decided that it needed to be a leader in finding ways to encourage diversity while meeting the challenges created by Proposal 2.  In the Diversity Blueprint’s final report, the task force proposed four race-neutral policies and programs, and the changes the school would need to make to implement these programs at the University. 
  The taskforce also announced that the school would continue analyze other universities’ programs in its on-going mission to maintain its reputation of being both a excellent educational institution and a campus of diverse people and ideas. 
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